# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-10-2012

# Block v. City of Lewiston Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39685

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Statement of the Case
Course of Proceedings
Statement of Facts
ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
A. Did the district court err in finding that the City did not owe Block a duty of care, that no special relationship existed between the City and Block, and/or that the City did not assume a duty of care through its actions?
<ul> <li>B. Did the district court err by concluding that the following exceptions to liability as set forth in the ITCA apply to this case thereby precluding Block from asserting his claims in this action against the City:</li></ul>
<ul> <li>(1) Did the district court erroneously apply an exception to liability under Idaho Code § 6-904(1)</li></ul>
(2) Did the district court erroneously apply an exception to liability under Idaho Code § 6-904(7)17
<ul> <li>(3) Did the district court erroneously apply an exception to liability under</li> <li>Idaho Code § 6-904B (3) and (4).</li> </ul>
C. Did the district court err by concluding that the economic loss doctrine applies to this case?
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Cases
Aardema v. U.S. Dairy Systems, Inc., 147 Idaho 785, 215 P.3d 505 (2009)
Bingham v. Franklin County, 118 Idaho 318, 796 P.2d 527 (1990) 27, 33
Blahd v. Richard B. Smith, Inc., 141 Idaho 296, 108 P.3d 996 (2005)
Brian and Christie, Inc. v. Leishman Elec., Inc., 150 Idaho 22, 244 P.3d 166 (2010)
Brooks v. Logan, 127 Idaho 484, 903 P.2d 73 (1995) 29
Brown v. City of Pocatello, 148 Idaho 802, 229 P.3d 1164 (2010)
Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille School Dist., 142 Idaho 804, 134 P.3d 655 (2006)
Clark v. International Harvester Co., 99 Idaho 326, 581 P.2d 784 (1978) 40
Coghlan v. Beta Theta Pi Fraternity, 133 Idaho 388, 987 P.2d 300 (1999) 18, 23, 25
Duffin v. Idaho Crop Imp Ass'n, 126 Idaho 1002, 895 P.2d 1195 (1995)
Featherston v. Allstate Ins. Co., 125 Idaho 840, 875 P.2d 937 (1994)
Hunter v. State, Dept. of Corrections, Div. of Probation & Parole, 138 Idaho 44,
57 P.3d 755 (2002)
Lawton v. City of Pocatello, 126 Idaho 454, 886 P.2d 330 (1994)
Morgan v. State, Dept. of Public Works, 124 Idaho 658, 862 P.2d 1080 (1993)
Nation v. State, Dept. of Correction, 144 Idaho 177, 158 P.3d 953 (2007)
O'Guin v. Bingham County, 142 Idaho 49, 122 P.3d 308 (2005)
Oppenheimer Industries, Inc. v. Johnson Cattle Co., Inc., 112 Idaho 423, 732 P.2d 661
(1986)
Ramerth v. Hart, 133 Idaho 194, 983 P.2d 848 (1999)
Rees v. State, Dept. of Health and Welfare, 143 Idaho 10, 137 P.3d 397 (2006). 22, 26, 27, 36, 37
Rogers v. City of Toppenish, 596 P.2d 1096 (Wash. App. Div. 3 1979)
Rosen v. City of Tacoma, 603 P.2d 846 (Wash. App. Div. 2 1979)
S. Griffin Const., Inc. v. City of Lewiston, 135 Idaho 181, 16 P.3d 278 (2000)
Salmon Rivers Sportsman Camps, Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 97 Idaho 348, 544 P.2d 306
(1975)
State v. Hammersley, 134 Idaho 816, 10 P.3d 1285 (2000)
Sterling v. Bloom, 111 Idaho 211, 723 P.2d 755 (1986)
Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin, 113 Idaho 37, 740 P.2d 1022 (1987)

Tyrolean Associates v. City of Ketchum, 100 Idaho 703, 604 P.2d 717 (1979)
Vergeson v. Kitsap County, 186 P.3d 1140 (Wash. App. Div 2 2008)
Statutes
Idaho Code §§ 6-901 et seq 7, 26, 30
Idaho Code § 6-904B (3) and (4)
Idaho Code § 6-904(1)
Idaho Code § 6-904(7)
Idaho Code § 6-904C
Other Authorities
6 Bruner & O'Connor Construction Law § 19:10 (2012)
Black's Law Dictionary, 2 <sup>nd</sup> Pocket Ed. at 564 (2001)
Idaho Attorney General Guidelines to the Executive Director of PERSI (Oct. 4, 1995)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 (2009)
Regulations
Subdivision Ordinance of the City of Lewiston (Ord. No. 4177, §1, 2-10-97)5, 6, 19, 20,
21, 22, 27, 27, 44
Constitutional Provisions
Idaho Const. Art. VII, § 4

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Statement of the Case

In 1999 a landslide occurred in an undeveloped portion of the partially developed Sunset Palisades subdivision No. 4 ("SP No. 4") within the City of Lewiston. A geotechnical engineer, performing an aerial inspection of another landslide about a half mile away, photographed the SP No. 4 landslide and forwarded that photograph to the Lewiston City Engineer who prepared a memorandum memorializing the landslide, and filed the photograph and memorandum in the City's SP No. 4 file and an "address" file with the express intent that the City's knowledge of the landslide be made known to any developer when, and if, plans to develop and/or construct upon or near the landslide area were proposed and/or submitted to the City. During the next six years the landslide area remained bare land but was filled and graded by its owner without supervision by the City.

In 2005, six years after the landslide, without any knowledge of the 1999 landslide, Appellant John Block ("Block") purchased the bare land upon which the 1999 landslide had occurred and, pursuant to City Code, obtained authorization and approval from the Respondents City of Lewiston ("City") and City Engineer Lowell J. Cutshaw ("Cutshaw") to subdivide and construct three (3) custom homes on the property. It was during the subdivision and building authorization and approval processes that the City and Cutshaw breached their duties to Block.

The Subdivision Ordinance of the City of Lewiston (Ord. No. 4177, §1, 2-10-97) requires City staff to meet with each prospective subdivider to identify any unusual problems, and to review and discuss with the subdivider the need for special studies, including studies of soil,

stability and other site conditions potentially affecting development of the property. Although Block met with City staff and discussed issues pertaining to his subdivision, the City failed to review, discuss and/or warn Block of the 1999 landslide upon which Block was seeking plat approval to construct three (3) custom homes. The City's failure to identify the 1999 landslide as a site issue breached its statutory duty to Block. The City's Subdivision Ordinance also provides that land which is unstable for residential use shall not be subdivided, and the City's subdivision of Block's property that enabled him to construct three (3) homes directly on the 1999 landslide area constituted a breach of this statutory duty. Block immediately constructed those three homes and their improvements in 2006 and 2007, certificates of occupancy for two (2) dwellings having been issued in May, 2007 and the third in June, 2008. Shortly thereafter a landslide occurred along the same fault line as the 1999 landslide causing substantial structural damage to all three (3) dwellings and their improvements, including garages, driveways, retaining walls, fences, decks, patios, and a swimming pool. After costly abatement effort by Block, the City declared two (2) dwellings to be uninhabitable and ordered Block to demolish them, which he did, while the third home, with its continuing structural issues, remains unsalable. Block's out-of-pocket losses far exceed one million dollars and his total damages resulting from the City's negligence exceed two million dollars.

#### Course of Proceedings.

Block filed his Notice of Claim for Damages with the City, including Cutshaw in his capacity as City of Lewiston Engineer, to recover money damages under the Idaho Tort Claims Act, Idaho Code §§ 6-901 et seq. ("ITCA") on August 26, 2009. On October 22, 2009, Block

filed a Complaint against Defendants. R. Vol. I, pp. 11-28. On May 21, 2010 the City/Cutshaw filed its first motion for summary judgment on the grounds that Block failed to file a timely Notice of Tort Claim. This first motion for summary judgment was denied by the district court on September 14, 2010. R. Vol. I, pp. 43-35, pp. 163-181. The City/Cutshaw filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment on June 24, 2011. On October 14, 2011, the district court entered its Memorandum Opinion and Order on Second Motion for Summary Judgment ("Order") granting the City summary judgment based on the economic loss rule and application of certain exceptions under the ITCA. R. Vol. IV, pp. 816-838.

On October 28, 2011, Block moved to reconsider the Order and on January 4, 2012, the district court entered its Memorandum Opinion and Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and Defendants' Memorandum of Costs upholding its prior opinion and order regarding application of the economic loss rule and exceptions to the ITCA. R. Vol. V, pp. 1008-1022. R. Vol. IV, pp. 839-868, Vol. V, pp. 869-979, 998-1007.

#### Statement of Facts.

Defendant City of Lewiston ("City") is a municipal corporation of the State of Idaho. R. Vol. I, p. 37 (Answer ¶ II). At certain times relevant to this action, Defendant Lowell J. Cutshaw ("Cutshaw") was an employee of the City of Lewiston and its City Engineer. R. Vol. I, p. 37 (Answer ¶ II). In December, 2005, Block purchased property in Lewiston, Idaho, from Defendant Jack Streibick and the Estate of Maureen Streibick ("Streibick") for the purpose of constructing and selling single family residences. R. Vol. I, p. 102 (Affidavit of John Block filed July 13, 2010 ("Aff. of John Block") at p. 2 ¶ 3). The real property at issue in this lawsuit has

been identified as part of four successive and approved subdivisions of the City and from 2006 to the present has been identified as wholly within Canyon Greens subdivision ("Canyon Greens") and Canyon Greens No. 2 subdivision ("Canyon Greens No. 2"). R. Vol. III, p. 500 (Block Depo. 57:15-25, 58:1-6). Prior to becoming Canyon Greens and Canyon Greens No. 2, this property was designated as a portion of a larger Sunset Palisades No. 8 subdivision and prior thereto was designated as part of an even larger Block 3 ("Block 3") of Sunset Palisades No. 4 subdivision ("SP No. 4"). R. Vol. III, pp. 624-25 (Streibick Depo. 27:6-23, 52:7-20).

Streibick's contractor Kenneth ("Ken") Morrison testified that he, in 1994 or 1995, filled in a 40-foot deep canyon on SP No. 8. R. Vol. III, pp. 576, 585 (Morrison Depo. 6:2-25, 7:1-16, 74:21-25, 75:1-25, 76:1-6). Keltic Engineering, Inc. ("Keltic") has calculated that the amount of fill placed by Streibick prior to 1995 within SP No. 8 to be approximately 63,350 cubic yards. R. Vol. IV, p. 697 (Second Aff. of Eric Hasenoehrl p. 2, ¶ 5). Gary Stone, a licensed Idaho surveyor at the time, who performed work for Streibick on SP No. 4 stated that the fill was placed without compaction, and that the area prior to being filled was a "draw" and "with that kind of slope" toward its north end was "undividable", and that it changed the contour of the property. R. Vol. III, pp. 629-637 (Stone Depo.17:1-7, 76:18-25, 77:1-25, 78:1-25, 79:1-25, 80:1-15, 81:22-25, 82:1-6, 105:5-17,117:3-23, 127:8-25, 128:1-25, 129:1-25, 130:1-25, 131:1-4, Exhibit 260).

Mr. Morrison also testified that a detention pond built on SP No. 8 in 1994 to satisfy the City's storm drainage requirements "never did work . . . it all cracked out" and, in 1999, was filled in, leveled off, and disposed of by him for Streibick. R. Vol. III, pp. 581, 586 (Morrison Depo. 54:23-25, 55:1-14, 79:17-21).

In 1999 a landslide occurred on Block 3 of SP No. 4 and the City was provided a photograph of that landslide by Terry Howard, a geotechnical engineer, and the City's knowledge of the 1999 landslide was noted in a Lewiston Tribune article. R. Vol. III, pp. 520, 533, 553 (Cutshaw Depo. 73:6-22, Exhibit 29, Exhibit 170), R. Vol. I, p. 104 (Aff. of John Block, p. 4, ¶ 8-9). The City maintained a written record of the 1999 landslide with photographs illustrating its exact location. R. Vol. III, pp. 593-95 (Redenbaugh Depo. 36:2-25, 37:1-25, 38:1-25, 39:1-25, 40:1-11, Exhibit 125). The City's photograph of the 1999 landslide along with a memorandum had been placed in two of the City's files, its address file and its subdivision file for SP No. 4. R. Vol. III, pp. 645-46 (Stubbers Depo. 40:18-25, 41:1-4), R. Vol. III, p. 521 (Cutshaw Depo. 83:3-19), R. Vol. III, pp. 593-95 (Redenbaugh Depo. supra). The photograph and memorandum were never placed in a file for either Sunset Palisades No. 8, Canyon Greens or Canyon Greens No. 2. R. Vol. III, pp. 505, 515-17 (Block Depo. 179:24-25, 180:1-16, Exhibit 124, Exhibit 125).

Ken Morrison testified that in 1999 he performed grading activities on the area now known as the Canyon Greens subdivision in an effort to cover up the cracks caused by the 1999 landslide. He said he "leveled the cracks up." R. Vol. III, p. 582 (Morrison Depo. 57:13-22).

In the fall of 2005, the City required Streibick, as a condition of approval of SP No. 8, to construct the "missing" detention pond. R. Vol. III, p. 562 (Hasenoehrl Depo. 60:10-25, 61:1-13), R. Vol. III, pp. 522-23, 534 (Cutshaw Depo. 92:24-25, 93:1-25, 94:1-25, 95:1-4, Ex. 33).

During Streibick's subdivision of Sunset Palisades No. 8 in 2005, during Block's subdivision of Canyon Greens in 2006, and during Block's subdivision of Canyon Greens No. 2

in 2006-2007, during Block's efforts to obtain building permits for the lots within Canyon Greens in 2006, and during Block's efforts to obtain building permits for the lots within Canyon Greens No. 2 in 2007-2008, the City failed to disclose to Block the City's knowledge of the 1999 landslide. R. Vol. I, Second Affidavit of John Block filed herewith ("Second Aff. of John Block") p. 2, ¶ 7.

In December 2005, Block purchased SP No. 8 from Streibick with certain public street, water and sewer improvements of which Block was aware, as are shown on the SP No. 8 plat, but Block did not know and was not informed that uncontrolled fill had been placed on this site. R. Vol. IV, p. 691 (Second Aff. of John Block, p. 2, ¶ 5). The Administrative Plat for SP No. 8 was recorded by the City on November 7, 2005. R. Vol. III, pp. 526, 539 (Cutshaw Depo. 116:16-25, 117:1-9, Exhibit 46). Three months after SP No. 8 was approved and purchased by Block, his application for Lot 4 of SP No. 8 was approved by the City and Cutshaw for resubdivision into three (3) residential lots that are commonly known as 153 Marine View Drive ("153"), 155 Marine View Drive ("155"), and 159 Marine View Drive ("159") (collectively the "Canyon Greens" subdivision). The Canyon Greens plat was recorded by the City on February 15, 2006. R. Vol. III, p. 500 (Block Depo. 57:15-25, 58:1-6). As a condition of approval of Canyon Greens, the City required dedication of a public storm drain as well as a major repair of the detention pond that had been reconstructed before SP No. 8 could be approved but had failed soon after its construction. R. Vol. III, pp. 503-04, 511 (Block Depo. 135:24-25, 136:1-15, 136:25-26, 137:1-7, 231:9-25, 370:11-25, 371:1-3). In part, because the City's review and approval of Canyon Greens occurred three months after approval of SP No. 8 and the City had

not, except for the detention pond, raised any site-related issues in review of SP No. 8, Block had assumed that all grading and fill and other public improvements on Canyon Greens, other than the new storm drainage, had been properly placed and installed under permit from the City and under its supervision and inspection. R. Vol. IV, p. 692 (Second Aff. of John Block, p. 3,  $\P$  10).

Block constructed a home on each lot in accordance with applicable building codes and standards, including compaction and testing of foundation footings, and the City conducted inspections, found each home to have been constructed in accordance with the City's applicable building codes and standards and issued certificates of occupancy for 153, 159 and 155 on May 30, 2007, May 30, 2007 and June 12, 2008, respectively. R. Vol. III, pp. 501-02 (Block Depo. October 14, 2010, 90:7-25, 91:1-25, 92:1-25, 93:1-25, 94:1-23), R. Vol. III, pp. 528, 530-31, 543, 547-48, 551 (Cutshaw Depo. 132:1-25, 133:1-16, 147:3-25, 149:9-15, 151:22-2, 153:1-4, Exhibits 61, 72, 75, 81). The City also approved Block's request to construct, pursuant to plans prepared by Block's engineer, retaining walls within the area of 153, 155 and 159, and the City issued building permits for and inspected and approved all of such construction. R. Vol. III, pp. 565-66 (Hasenoehrl Depo. 171:4-25, 172:1-15, 173:19-25, 174:1-25, 175:1-3), R. Vol. III, pp. 529, 532, 545-46, 552 (Cutshaw Depo. 143:5-25, 144:19-25, 145:1-5, 155:6-21, Exhibits 67, 69, 87). Block constructed single-family residences on 153, 155 and 159 of high quality construction that were listed for sale for nearly \$600,000 each. R. Vol. IV, p. 692 (Second Aff. of John Block, p. 3, ¶ 8).

In late 2006, Block made application to the City to resubdivide the remainder of SP No. 8 then designated as Lots 1-3, into eight lots, and such resubdivision application was reviewed and approved by Cutshaw and by the City as Lots 1 through 8 of Canyon Greens No. 2 to the City of Lewiston, a resubdivision of Lots 1, 2 and 3 of Amended Administrative Plat of Sunset Palisades No. 8 (collectively "Canyon Greens No. 2"). R. Vol. III, p. 500 (Block Depo. 57:15-25, 58:1-6). The City required Block to install a storm drain through Canyon Greens and Canyon Greens No. 2 that would discharge/outfall into the existing detention pond. R. Vol. III, p. 503 (Block Depo. 136:10-15). In addition, Block was required to correct an improperly placed sewer easement which resulted in the shifting of lot lines and the relocation of a fire hydrant. R. Vol. III, 513-14 (Block Depo. 17:18-25, 18:1-9). Block also graded the cul-de-sac, added a sanitary sewer and erosion control. R. Vol. III, pp. 564, 569 (Hasenoehrl Depo. 100:1-22, Exhibit 204).

All residential construction by Block on 153, 155 and 159 was done in accordance with all laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations and codes required by the City and any other governmental agency having jurisdiction thereof, including, but not limited to, all required soil compaction and compaction testing. R. Vol. III, p. 621 (Smith Depo. 60:10-25, 61:1-6), R. Vol. IV, pp. 692-93 (Second Aff. of John Block, pp. 3-4, ¶ 12).

In October, 2007, a realtor observed settling in the northwest corner of the home at 153 while showing the home to a prospective buyer. On or about early November, 2007, the owner of 159, who had purchased 159 in April 2007, told Block that there was a crack in the basement floor of 159. On or about early November, 2007, Block observed settling under an exterior door of 155. On November 13, 2007, Block consulted with professional engineers Keltic Engineering, Inc. and Strata Inc. Based upon professional advice from those engineers that 153, 155 and 159 were experiencing settlement problems, Block entered into a contract on December 14, 2007

with a contractor, Montana Helical Inc., to resolve the settlement problems by making structural adjustments to the structures on 153, 155 and 159 in areas where settlement had occurred by constructing a series of helical piers, and those structural adjustments were made in December, 2007. R. Vol. I, pp. 102-03 (Aff. of John Block, pp. 2-3, ¶ 4-6), R. Vol. I, pp. 116-17 (Aff. of Eric Hasenoehrl filed July 13, 2010 ("Aff. of Eric Hasenoehrl"), pp. 3-4, ¶ 9-10).

On or about December 14, 2007, to appease the owner's dissatisfaction with the condition of 159 and to be able to resolve the settlement problems to 159, Block reacquired 159 from the owner. R. Vol. IV, p. 693 (Second Aff. of John Block, p. 4, ¶ 15). Confident that the helical piers had remedied the settlement problem, Block made non-structural repairs and improvements during the spring of 2008 to 153, 155 and 159. R. Vol. I, p. 103 (Aff. of John Block, p. 3, ¶ 7).

In February, 2009, the tenants in 159 called Block, who was in California, and stated that they noticed settlement in the foundation of 159. Several weeks after that, the tenant in 153 called Block, who was still in California, and stated that there was settlement in the driveway and basement area of 153. Block returned to Idaho in March, 2009, inspected 153, 155 and 159, observed settlement to the structures on 153, 155 and 159 and observed cracks in the surface of the ground within the area of 153, 155 and 159. On or about May 11, 2009, a natural gas leak occurred at 153. On May 12, 2009, the City inspected 153, 155 and 159 and posted notice that the residential structures on 153 and 159 were unsafe to occupy. The tenants of 153 and 159 vacated the premises that same day. The City required Block to submit an abatement plan to address the unsafe conditions, and Block immediately prepared and submitted an abatement plan

for review and approval by the City. That plan, as approved by the City, required the demolition of 153 and 159 and structural repairs to 155. In accordance with the approved plan, Block demolished and removed the structures on 153 in June, 2009 and removed the main floor, remodeled the garage on site, although the City have denied Block's request to provide electrical service to said garage and have determined the garage violates the City zoning ordinance as there is no longer a residential structure on this lot, and demolished and removed the remaining structures on 159 in August, 2009. Block has made improvements required by the City to allow 155 to be occupied. R. Vol. I, p. 103 (Aff. of John Block, p. 3, ¶ 8-9).

In late May, 2009, Sandra E. Lee, a reporter for the Lewiston Tribune sent Block a copy of a May 20, 1999 Lewiston Tribune article that showed that a landslide had occurred in 1999 in the area of Marine View Drive in the vicinity of 153, 155 and 159. Block then reviewed the City records and other information he obtained regarding the development history of SP No. 8, Canyon Greens and Canyon Greens No. 2. R. Vol. I, pp. 104-05 (Aff. of John Block, p. 4-5, ¶ 10-11).

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