# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-29-2013

# Block v. City of Lewiston Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39685

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

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

## A. BECAUSE THE CITY AND CUTSHAW HAVE NO DUTY TO ALL FUTURE OWNERS OF A PROPERTY, BLOCK CANNOT PREVAIL ON ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE WHICH OCCURRED PRIOR TO PURCHASE OF THE PROPERTY.

The City and Cutshaw made two general duty arguments: there was no duty to Block before he owned the property, and there was no duty to protect against economic loss (discussed in more detail in § B below). With regard to the former, such arguments only applied to a portion of Block's claims, specifically Complaint ¶¶ 55 (iii – v, ix – xi). On this issue, Judge Kerrick concluded that "The City does not owe a duty to any person who may purchase land in Lewiston, from any current landowner, at a future date." *R. Vol. IV*, p. 827. Block now makes several arguments as to why a duty was owed to Block (though it is not clear that Block is limiting the

discussion of duty to the time prior to when he purchased the property). Appellant's Brief, pp. 18 -25. The City will address each of Block's arguments in turn.

1. <u>Block's Negligence Per Se Argument Should be Rejected Because it was</u> <u>Presented for the First Time on Appeal, and Because Block Cannot Establish</u> <u>Negligence Per Se.</u>

First, Block makes a negligence per se argument, contending that the City Subdivision Ordinance should replace the standard duty of care. Appellant's Brief, pp. 19 - 21. This is the first time that negligence per se has been addressed in this case, as it was never plead in the Complaint.<sup>1</sup> Judge Kerrick's Memorandum Opinions (both on the original motion for summary judgment and the motion for reconsideration) never once mention negligence per se. See R. Vol. IV, pp. 820 – 27 (discussing negligence arguments) and Vol. V, pp. 1010 – 16 (discussing negligence arguments). Perhaps this was because Block never addressed it, in either his briefing on the motion for summary judgment or motion for reconsideration. R. Vol. III, pp. 459 - 75 (Opposition to Summary Judgment, discussion of duties), and Vol. V, pp. 965 - 68 (Amended Memo in Support of Motion for Reconsideration, discussing the City's duty). Block cannot now raise this issue for the first time on appeal. "The longstanding rule of this Court is that we will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." Barmore v. Perrone, 145 Idaho 340, 343, 179 P.3d 303, 306 (2008) (quoting Crowley v. Critchfield, 145 Idaho 509, 512, 181 P.3d 435, 438 (2007)). See also Murray v. Spalding, 141 Idaho 99, 101, 106 P.3d 425, 427 (2005) (same holding); Row v. State, 135 Idaho 573, 580, 21 P.3d 895, 902 (2001) (holding the same). Block should not now be allowed to argue a new substantive issue on appeal which was never addressed to the Court below.

Even if the Court were to consider Block's negligence per se argument, Block cannot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See R. Vol. I, pp. 23 – 25 (allegations against the City and Cutshaw). Failure to plead negligence per se is not always dispositive. See <u>Obendorf v. Terra Hug Spray Co., Inc.</u>, 145 Idaho 892, 898-99, 188 P.3d 834, 840-41 (2008) (a party need not specifically plead negligence per se in order to receive a jury instruction on such issue).

show the four elements necessary to establish negligence per se. *See O'Guin v. Bingham County*, 142 Idaho 49, 52, 122 P.3d 308, 311 (2005) (discussing elements of negligence per se); *Obendorf*, at 899, 841 (same). First, Block points to language in Lewiston City Code §§ 32-2, 32-8, 32-9, and 32-31. *Appellant's Brief*, pp. 19 – 20. These sections either contain discretionary language or give general guidelines and do not "clearly define the required standard of conduct." *Obendorf* at 899, 841. For example, § 32-2 is titled "Purpose and Intent", and does not give any specific mandates. *R. Vol. II*, p. 387. Similarly, § 32-31 deals with "opinion[s] of the subdivision committee", *Appellant's Brief*, p. 20, which does not clearly define standards of conduct. As to § 32-9, the only action required is that the City "inspect the site", and then if the city engineer so requires, have certain additional studies done. *Appellant's Brief*, p. 20. Again, this discretion does not set forth clearly defined standards of conduct.

Block also cannot show that the Lewiston City Codes were designed to protect him. <u>Obendorf</u> at 899, 841. As one court has stated, "It is apparent from the language of the [building code], and from commentators that "[t]he primary purpose of such codes and ordinances is ... to protect the health and secure the safety of occupants of buildings, and not to protect the personal or property interests of individuals." <u>Island Shores Estates Condo. Ass'n v. City of Concord</u>, 136 N.H. 300, 307, 615 A.2d 629, 633 (1992). The Lewiston Subdivision Code was not intended to protect the developer, but the City and its residents. *See Lewiston City Code* § 32-2(a) (*R. Vol. II*, p. 387).

Block also can't establish the fourth element of negligence per se, in that he cannot show that the City's and/or Cutshaw's negligence was the proximate cause of his injury. <u>*Obendorf*</u> at 899, 841. Though not ruled on by Judge Kerrick<sup>2</sup>, the City and Cutshaw contended that there was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The City and Cutshaw still seek to have judgment affirmed on these grounds. "The respondent can seek to sustain a judgment for reasons that were presented to the trial court even though they were not addressed or relied upon by the trial court in its decision." *Stapleton v. Jack Cushman Drilling & Pump Co. Inc.*, 39198-2011, 2012

no evidence before the District Court (nor is there in the record before this court) of what caused the slope movement which resulted in injury to Block's properties. *R. Vol. I*, pp. 201 – 02. Block's experts have admitted that without doing a geotechnical evaluation of the property (which they have not done), they cannot know what caused the slope movement. *R. Vol. IV*, pp. 713 – 14. There must be some evidence of causation, or else an essential element of a negligence claim is not met. *See <u>Walker v. Am. Cyanamid Co.</u>*, 130 Idaho 824, 831 (1997); <u>Nation v. State</u>, 144 Idaho 177, 189 (2007) (essential element of negligence claim is causation); <u>Esterbrook v.</u> <u>State</u>, 124 Idaho 680, 683 (1993) (burden of proof for negligence is on Plaintiff). Because Block's own experts don't know what caused the slope movement, *see R. Vol. IV*, pp. 713 – 14, Block cannot establish that the City or Cutshaw proximately caused his injuries. Therefore, the City and Cutshaw request that this Court determine that negligence per se does not apply.

#### 2. <u>Block Incorrectly Argues that the Public Duty Rule Establishes a Duty to Him.</u>

Next, Block addresses the public duty rule. Judge Kerrick found the "public duty rule" to be instructive, and determined that no liability could attach to the City and Cutshaw because no duty existed. Block attempts to argue that the City had a public duty to provide information and handle applications in a particular manner. *Appellant's Brief*, pp. 21 – 22. However, the public duty rule does not apply in the manner which Block states, nor does it create any duty to Block (or any potential future land owner) before the property is purchased. The existence of a duty is a question of law. *Turpen v. Granieri*, 133 Idaho 244, 247 (1999). "No liability arises from the law of torts unless the defendant owes a duty to the plaintiff." *Udy v. Custer County*, 136 Idaho 386, 389 (2001). Numerous Idaho cases have made it clear that a party cannot recover from a governmental entity for failure to perform a duty owed to the public at large. "[I]f the duty which

WL 6620615 at \*6 (Idaho Dec. 20, 2012) (citing *Walker v. Shoshone County*, 112 Idaho 991, 993, 739 P.2d 290, 292 (1987)).

the official authority imposes upon an officer is a duty to the public, a failure to perform it, or an inadequate or erroneous performance, must be a public, not an individual, injury, and must be redressed, if at all, in some form of public prosecution." *Jacobson v. McMillan*, 64 Idaho 351, 359 (1943). *See also Worden v. Witt*, 4 Idaho 404, 406 – 07 (1895).

Generally, a person has no common law duty to prevent a third person from injuring another unless there is some kind of special relationship. Applying this principle to governmental torts in what is called the "public duty rule" requires that a governmental unit owe the plaintiff a duty different from that owed to the general public in order for the governmental unit to be found liable.

Radke v. County of Freeborn, 694 N.W.2d 788, 793 (Minn. 2005) (cited in Rees v. State, 143

Idaho 10, 16 (2006)). Two cases illustrate this concept. In <u>Udy v. Custer County</u>, the plaintiff argued that a sheriff who saw rocks lying on a road (which later caused a motor vehicle accident) had a duty to clear the rocks or give notice to someone to move them. <u>Udy</u>, 136 Idaho at 389. This Court stated

Udy's claims are in reality claims for negligent police protection for which there can be no recovery absent a special relationship with the victim. Here, the record does not establish, nor does Udy argue that he or his passengers were in a special relationship with Sheriff Roskelley. Thus, the fact that Udy's accident may have been prevented through reasonable law enforcement actions is insufficient to establish a duty to the Appellants or otherwise form the basis for Sheriff Roskelley's liability in tort.

<u>Udy</u>, 136 Idaho at 391. In other words, absent a special relationship, there was no duty owed to the plaintiff just because there may have been a duty to the public at large.

The New Hampshire Supreme Court has dealt with a similar issue. In <u>Island Shores</u> <u>Estates Condo. Ass'n v. City of Concord</u>, 136 N.H. 300, 615 A.2d 629 (1992), the plaintiff was a condominium association who sued the city for issuing occupancy permits after (allegedly) improperly inspecting the condominiums. <u>Id</u>. at 302, 630. The plaintiff contended that the city's failure to discover "a litany of flaws . . . constitutes gross negligence and the construction approved by defendant threatens the structural integrity of the units and the health and safety of its occupants; that resultant harm to the owners of the units has occurred." <u>Id</u>. In dismissing the claims against the city, the New Hampshire Supreme Court stated the following:

As developed, the public duty rule represents a limitation on liability for municipal acts that are carried out for the general welfare. In cases where by statute or ordinance a public official has a general duty to perform a function for the public's benefit, it has been held that liability will not be imposed for the negligent performance of this duty, unless the plaintiff can establish an individual duty owed him.

Id. at 303, 631. Ultimately, the New Hampshire Supreme Court did not even discuss whether the

duty was public or not, because "a duty must exist before we reach the question of whether it is a

public duty or a private duty. We do not reach any issues involving the public duty rule because

we find the defendant had no duty to protect the plaintiff." Id. at 304, 631. The court went on to

state that

We note the countervailing interests in limiting the duty of the city. The defendant asserts the danger of making the city the insurer of every building project if the issuance of a certificate of occupancy is deemed a representation upon which the world can rely. The recognition of the dangers of such unlimited liability is not a vestige of municipal immunity, but is a consideration that must be a factor in every negligence analysis.

The city is not engaged in the trade of inspecting buildings to help buyers determine the commercial feasibility of building ownership. Had the plaintiff wished to assure itself of the commercial feasibility of the construction, the duty was the plaintiff's, and could have been met by utilizing its own resources or by hiring private contractors. By using different standards and focusing on different aspects, the private contractor may well have presented information that caused the plaintiff's members to come to different conclusions as to the financial wisdom of purchasing their units. Such private business considerations are unrelated to the purpose of the municipality's inspection, which must remain focused on setting and enforcing sufficient standards to ensure the safety of structures.

Id. at 306-07, 633. With regard to the second allegation in Island Shores (that a duty arose under

the city building codes), the court held that such codes no duty existed because the codes are to

"protect the health and secure the safety of occupants of buildings, and not to protect the

personal or property interests of individuals." Id. at 307, 633.

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 11** 

The same analysis should apply in this case. Despite Block's contentions that the City and/or Cutshaw owed him a duty to provide accurate information<sup>3</sup>, there is no reason to make the City liable for acts done prior to Block's purchase of the property. Such a duty would create crushing burden on municipalities, and potentially subject them to enduring liability. See <u>Rife v.</u> Long, 127 Idaho 841, 846-47, 908 P.2d 143, 148-49 (1995) (imposing a duty on a school district to protect students after school hours would be debilitating). If, as in *Rife* and *Summers v*. Cambridge Joint Sch. Dist. No. 432, 139 Idaho 953, 956, 88 P.3d 772, 775 (2004), a school district has no duty to its students when they leave its custody, a city certainly should not have a duty to someone before they purchase property. In any case, Block's claims don't make logical sense. For example, Block contends that the City was negligent in failing to prevent Streibick from selling the property to Block. R. Vol. I, p. 24 (Complaint, ¶ 55(iv)). How the City could have prevented such a sale (absent exercising eminent domain) is impossible to guess, as cities are not generally notified before property is sold. Block certainly never provided the City with a chance to give him information about the property before he purchased it<sup>4</sup>, because he never asked the City any questions about the property before signing the sales contract. R. Vol. II, p. 279. Therefore, the City and Cutshaw ask that this Court conclude that Judge Kerrick properly ruled no duty was owed to Block before he purchased the property.<sup>5</sup>

## 3. <u>Block Cannot Show a Duty Arose Due to a Special Relationship Between Block</u> and the City.

Block's third allegation is that there was a special relationship between the City/Cutshaw

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Appellant's Brief, p. 22 (citing <u>Rogers v. City of Toppenish</u>, 596 P.2d 1096 (Wash. App. Div. 3, 1979)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This case is distinguished from <u>Rogers</u> based on the fact that the plaintiff in <u>Rogers</u> actually went and asked the city for information about the property before it was purchased. <u>Rogers v. City of Toppenish</u>, 23 Wash. App. 554, 555, 596 P.2d 1096 (1979). Block never made such a request for information from the City or Cutshaw until 2009, four years after he purchased the property. *R. Vol. II*, p. 279.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> To the extent that Block contends the City owed him a duty after he purchased the property, *see Appellant's Brief*, pp. 21 - 22, no duty exists to protect from economic loss. *See*§ B, below.

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